No. 33992-1-III 

COURT OF APPEALS, 
DIVISION III, 

OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON 

AHMET HO POV AC, 

Plaintiff-Appellant, 

v. 

FILED 
MAY 1 7 2016 
COURT OF APPEAL~ 

DIVISION Ill 
STATE OF WASHLNGTON 
Sy~~~~ 

STATE OF WASHINGTON DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONS, and 
KIMBERLY ALLEN 

Defendants-Respondents. 

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF 

Breean Beggs, WSBA # 20795 
Paukert & Troppmann, PLLC 
522 W. Riverside, Suite 560 
Spokane, WA99201 
Tel: (509) 232-7760 
Fax: (509) 232-7762 
Attorneys for Plaintiff-Appellant 

Mark J. Harris, WSBA # 31720 
Maxey Law Offices, PLLC 
183 5 W. Broadway 
Spokane, WA 99201 
Tel: (509) 326-0338 
Fax: (509) 325-9919 
Attorneys for Plaintiff-Appellant

I. INTRODUCTION 

On May 24, 2011, Appellant Ahmet Hopovac was interrogated and 

tortured by members of the Poco Locos gang. CP 151-52; 154 (Leveque 

Kobluck Dec., Ex. A, p. 72:6-16; p. 90:5-p. 92:9). During this ordeal, Mr. 

Hopovac suffered the forcible removal of both large toenails with pliers, 

as well as the near-amputation of three fingers with an ax. CP 153-56; 

261-63 (Id., Ex. A, p. 91:19-p. 92:9; p. 98:16-23; Ex. P, Surgical 

Consultation, Anthony M. Sestero, M.D. 5/24/11/). 

At the time of this attack, Mr. Hopovac was under community 

supervision by Appellee Washington State Department of Corrections 

(hereinafter DOC). CP 217-20 (Id., Ex. K). Conditions of his supervision 

included a requirement that he remain in Grant County and a prohibition 

on possession of firearms -- both of which limited his ability to protect 

himself from the Poco Locos gang. CP 21 7 (Id., Ex. K). When 

circumstances in Grant County indicated that Mr. Hopovac was in danger 

of death or serious bodily injury from the Poco Locos gang, he visited his 

DOC community supervision office and pleaded for help to escape the 

danger to his parent's home in Idaho. CP 140; 137; 129-30; 135-36; 148-

49 (Id., Ex. A, p. 46:11-23; p. 43:1-3; p. 20-24; p. 41 :16-42:1; p. 54:23-

55:1-3). The Department of Corrections had previously agreed to transfer 



Mr. Hopovac to Idaho but had failed to file the correct paperwork with 

Idaho, thus delaying approval of the transfer. CP 213; 198-200; 204-07; 

164. (Id., Ex. I, p. 1; Ex. E, p. 1-3; Ex. G, p. 1-4; Ex. B, p. 22:2-7.) 

Department of Corrections Supervisor Kimberly Allen responded to Mr. 

Hopovac's pleas for help and protection by telling him that she would not 

help him unless he first filed a police report, despite the fact that he was 

reasonably afraid to approach the police department due to the threat of 

gang violence against him if he left her office and traveled to the police 

department. CP 137; 136; 138-39 (Id., Ex. A, p. 43:20-24; p. 42:18-43:24; 

p. 44:17-45:2). Ms. Allen took no action to assist Mr. Hopovac to escape 

his danger and refused to. CP 136-39 (Id.). Ms. Allen also failed to 

adequately review his computerized file while he was in the office with 

him, and thus failed to realize that the Department had the authority to 

take Mr. Hopovac into immediate custody and that it had failed to include 

the proper paperwork in its transfer request to Idaho. CP 196 (Id., Ex. D, 

p. 68:9-12). 

Mr. Hopovac's ensuing claim for damages against the DOC failed 

when the trial court granted the DOC's motion for summary judgment. CP 

275-76 (Order Granting Summ. J.). The trial court found that the DOC did 

not owe Mr. Hopovac a duty of protection, because community 

supervisees are not entitled to the full extent of "normal opportunities for 
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protection" described in the Restatement (Second) of Torts § 314A as 

adopted by Washington courts. See, e.g., Shea v. City of Spokane, 17 Wn. 

App. 236, 242 (1977). In its ruling, the trial court declared: 

So the question then becomes are we talking about normal 
opportunities as it applies to the individual who has no 
restrictions on their liberty or are we talking about normal 
opportunities as it applies to somebody who has restriction 
on their liberty as a result of their criminal history. 

In this case, normal opportunities the court believes more 
appropriately would be normal opportunities as they pertain 
to somebody who has had some restrictions placed on them 
as a result of a prior criminal history. 

Rep. of Proceedings of Summ. J. Hr'g., p. 27:21-28:8. As will be 

explained below, this finding contradicts the Restatement and Washington 

case law and violates important public policy. 

Accordingly, Mr. Hopovac files this appeal seeking to reverse the 

trial court's grant of summary judgment on the issue of duty. A careful 

analysis of Restatement of Torts 2nd § 314(A) as interpreted in 

Washington case law points toward a duty owed by the Department of 

Corrections to persons under community supervision. Once the existence 

of a duty to protect supervisees is established, it is apparent that, had the 

Defendants met the standard of reasonable care proportional to their 

restrictions on Mr. Hopovac's ability to protect himself, Mr. Hopovac 

would not have been injured. The fact that Defendants may dispute the 
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factual testimony of Mr. Hopovac and expert Larry Valadez is a matter for 

the jury and insufficient to grant a motion for summary judgment under 

CR56. 

IL ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR 

The Superior Court of Grant County, State of Washington, erred in 

granting Appellee's Motion for Summary Judgment on the grounds that 

the Department of Corrections owes no duty of protection to its 

supervisees. The trial court acknowledged that a duty to supervisees was 

an issue of first impression in Washington, and stated that the Court of 

Appeals might well find that such a duty exists. Rep. of Proceedings of 

Summ. J. Hr'g., p. 16, 28-29). 

III. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR 

Contrary to the grant of the Department of Corrections' motion for 

summary judgment, does the Department of Corrections have a duty to 

protect persons whose ability to protect themselves is limited by the terms 

of Department of Corrections Community Supervision?1 

1 The DOC also raised an additional argument below that the trial court did not reach. 
See CP 269 (Def.'s Reply Mem. Supporting Summ. J., p. 6). This involved a relaxation 
of the duty owed to third party victims after a supervisee has absconded from community 
supervision. Hustedv. State, 187 Wn.App. 579 (2015). Husted is inapplicable to duties 
owed to the supervisee and is factually distinguishable because the breach of duty that 
caused Mr. Hopovac's injury occurred while he remained under supervision and the 
breach is what caused him to leave supervision in order to protect himself. 
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IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

The facts of the case are largely irrelevant to this appeal, which centers 

simply on the existence of a legal duty. A brief outline is included here to 

orient the Court to Mr. Hopovac's situation. 

a. Ahmet Hopovac was subject to community supervision 
by the Department of Corrections and its worker, 
Kimberly Allen. Terms of his supervision limited his 
ability to protect himself. 

Ahmet Hopovac completed a felony drug possession sentence at 

the Grant County jail and was assigned to Community Corrections Officer 

("CCO") Peter Markovics on January 19, 2011. CP 217-20 (Leveque 

Kobluk Dec., Ex. K.). Upon his assignment to CCO Markovics, Mr. 

Hopovac requested a transfer of his supervision to Idaho, because he did 

not have a permanent place to reside in Washington and had family 

support and a place to live in Idaho. CP 131-33; (Id, Ex. A, p. 30-31; 

33:4-34:7.). However, CCO Markovics failed to attach the required 

paperwork with his request to transfer supervision to Idaho, and for that 

reason it was denied on May 2, 2011, a few weeks before Mr. Hopovac 

was assaulted and suffered serious injuries. CP 204-07; 164 (Id, Ex. G; 

Ex. B, p. 22:2-7.). Later on May 2, 2011, CCO Markovics re-submitted 

the transfer request with the required police report attached. CP 164-65 

(Id., Ex. B, p. 22:16-p. 23:4.). Conditions of his supervision included a 
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prohibition on possession of firearms, along with a requirement that he 

remain in Grant County. CP 217-20 (Id., Ex. K). 

b. Mr. Hopovac reasonably perceived an imminent threat 
of death or bodily harm from the Poco Locos gang. 

On or about April 17, 2011, Mr. Hopovac was at the home of an 

acquaintance, Christopher Jones. CP 141-44 (Id., Ex. A, p. 47:21-25-p. 

48:25; p. 49:10-p.50:4). While Mr. Hopovac was at the Jones residence, a 

member of the violent gang Poco Locos arrived at the house. CP 140; 

157; 269-70 (Id., Ex. A, p. 46:17-23; p. 123:5-10; Ex. R). This gang 

member, Gilberto Valdovinos Medina (a/k/a "Diablo") was attempting to 

conceal a murder weapon at the home. CP 157-58 (Id., Ex. A, p. 123-24). 

The reason Diab lo left the firearm at Jones' home was because he did not 

want to take the risk of being pulled over with it. CP 158 (Id, Ex. A, p. 

124:12-17). 

Christopher Jones thereafter decided to inform the police about the 

murder involving Diablo. CP 140 (Id., Ex. A, p. 46:11-16). As a result, 

members of the gang began to threaten Mr. Jones. CP 139 (Id, Ex. A, p. 

45: 8-22). The gang members were threatening Mr. Jones and his family 

with harm. CP 139 (Id., Ex. A, p. 45:8-22). Members attempted to break 

into Mr. Jones' home. CP 139 (Id.). Because Mr. Hopovac was staying 

with Mr. Jones and was present at the time Diablo dumped the murder 

6 



weapon, the gang suspected that he, too, was a snitch and informing the 

police. CP 140 (Id., Ex. A, p. 46:11-23). Members of the gang began to 

follow Mr. Hopovac. CP 137 (Id., Ex. A, p. 43:1-3). 

c. Mr. Hopovac appealed to the Department of 
Corrections for help to escape the imminent threat of 
death or bodily harm. 

On or about May 3, 2011, Mr. Hopovac had a scheduled check-in 

at his DOC supervision office. CP 137 (Id., Ex. A, p. 43:20-24). Because 

he feared that his movements were surveilled by gang members, he 

planned to attend the regular check-in supervision meeting to avoid 

arousing suspicion amongst the gang. CP 137 (Id., Ex. A, p. 43:20-24). He 

planned to use this visit to advise the Department that his life was in 

danger and request protection. CP 137 (Id., Ex. A, p. 43:20-24). 

On May 3, 2011, Mr. Hopovac met with defendant, DOC 

Community Corrections Supervisor ("CCS"), Kim Allen. CP 135-36; 195 

(Id. Ex. A, p. 41:16-p. 42:1; Ex. D, Allen Dep. p. 67:14-16). CCS Allen 

did not ask for a DOC computer despite having access to one while 

meeting with Mr. Hopovac. CP 196 (Id., Ex. D, p. 68:9-12). She had the 

authority to check the DOC database regarding Mr. Hopovac. CP 162-63 

(Id., Ex. B, p. 13:9-p. 14:10). Mr. Hopovac pleaded for protection and 

urgently requested an immediate transfer to the State of Idaho because his 
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life was in danger. CP 148-49 (Id., Ex. A, p. 54:23-55:1-3). Mr. Hopovac 

testified in his deposition that: 

"When my -when the shooting happened, when I went to 
Kimberly Allen for my check-in date, when I had expressed 
to her that my life was in danger, that was the time that I 
told her - I told her, you know, "I need to get out of 
Washington. You know, I need your help," and she just 
pretty much, you know, shut me down." 

CP 134 (Id., Ex. A, p. 34:11-16). 

Mr. Hopovac told CCS Allen that he witnessed a gang member 

attempt to "pass off' a weapon used in a murder. CP 136 (Id., Ex. A, 

p. 42:18-22). The gang threatened Mr. Hopovac's friend which prompted 

his friend to move out-of-state; Mr. Hopovac believed his life was in 

danger as well. CP 139-40; 146-47 (Id., Ex. A, p. 45:8-22; p. 46:11-23; 

p. 52:4-17; p. 53:13-p.54:l). 

d. The Department of Corrections failed to act reasonably 
to protect Mr. Hopovac. 

Despite being alerted to the danger, CCS Allen told Mr. Hopovac 

that he needed to go to the police and obtain a police report, otherwise 

there was nothing that she could do to help him. CP 136-39 (Id. Ex. A, 

p. 42:18-p. 43:24; p. 44:17-p. 45:2). 

Mr. Hopovac left her office knowing that he could not count on 

any protection from the Defendants. CP 137 (Id., Ex. A, p. 43:1-24). Nor 
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was he allowed to leave Grant County or arm himself. CP 217-25 (Id., Ex. 

K, Ex. L). 

The DOC determined that he was out of compliance and withdrew his 

application for transfer to Idaho. CP 202 (Id, Ex. F). 

e. The Department of Corrections inaction and 
incompetent action resulted in grievous bodily injury to 
Mr. Hopovac. 

As he feared, on May 24, 2011, Mr. Hopovac was interrogated, 

beaten and savagely tortured by members of the Poco Locos gang. CP 

151-54. (Id., Ex. A, p. 72:6-16; p. 90:5-p. 92:9). Mr. Hopovac's index, 

middle and ring fingers were nearly amputated with an ax and both of his 

large toenails forcibly removed with pliers. CP 153-55; 254-55 (Id., Ex. A, 

p. 91:19-p. 92:9; p. 98:16-23; Ex. P, Surgical Consultation, Anthony M. 

Sestero, M.D. 5/24/11). Fortunately, his fingers were surgically re

attached but he has not fully recovered function in his hand or arm. CP 

128-30; 155-56; 257-59 (Id, Ex. A, p. 19:16-p. 21:15; p. 98:24-p. 99:4; 

Ex. Q, Sacred Heart Medical Operative Report 5/25/11). 

f. Procedural History. 

Mr. Hopovac filed a Complaint for Damages against the DOC and 

CCS Allen on June 13, 2014. CP 1-12 (Compl.). Defendants DOC and 

Allen filed a Motion for Summary Judgment on November 3, 2015, 

asserting that the DOC does not owe a duty of protection to supervisees 
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such as Mr. Hopovac. CP 264-72 (Def.'s Mot. and Mem. for Summ. J. Re: 

Duty). After oral arguments on December 3, 2015, The Superior Court of 

Grant County found that the duty of protection does not exist and granted 

the DOC's motion for summary judgment. Rep. of Proceedings of Summ. 

J. Hr'g., p. 28-29. Mr. Hopovac here appeals that ruling. 

V. STANDARD OF REVIEW 

Summary Judgment 

CR 56(c) states that: "The judgment sought shall be rendered 

forthwith if the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and 

admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is 

no genuine issue as to any material fact..." A genuine issue of fact exists 

which precludes summary judgment, when reasonable minds could reach 

different factual conclusions after considering the evidence. Klinke v. 

Famous Recipe Fried Chicken, Inc. 94 Wn.2d 255 (1980). When 

reasonable minds could differ, the motion for summary judgment must be 

denied and the case must proceed to trial. In this case, Ms. Allen has a 

different version of events than Mr. Hopovac regarding whether or not she 

offered to assist him and the Department also contests the evidence of 

Plaintiffs expert, Larry Valadez, who opined that the Department violated 

the minimum standard of care that it owed to Mr. Hopovac. CP 173-75; 

181-82 (Id, Ex. C Valadez Dep. 48:11-p. 50:10; p. 60:17-p. 61: 12). In 
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addition to the substantial dispute of material facts, it is the jury that 

decides the scope and application of any duty owed. McKown v. Simon 

Property Group, Inc., 182 Wn.2d 752, 763 (2015). 

LEGAL ARGUMENT 

THE DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONS HAS A DUTY TO 
PROTECT ITS COMMUNITY SUPERVISEES, TO THE EXTENT 

SUPERVISION DEPRIVES THOSE SUPERVISEES OF "NORMAL 
OPPORTUNITIES FOR PROTECTION." 

1. The plain language of the Restatement of Torts and 
Washington case law suggests a DOC duty to protect 
community supervisees whose ability to protect themselves is 
limited by the terms of their supervision. 

There is no affirmative duty to protect others from the criminal acts of 

third parties. Nivens v. 7-11 Hoagy's Corner, 133 Wn.2d 192 (1997) 

(internal citations omitted). However, when a "special relationship" exists 

between a defendant and either a third party or a foreseeable victim of the 

third party's tortious conduct, a duty arises. See Couch v. Washington 

Dept. of Corrections, 113 Wn. App. 556,564 (2002). The Restatement 

(Second) of Torts, as adopted by Washington courts, identifies legal 

custody as such a special relationship: 

One who is required by law to take or who voluntarily 

takes the custody of another under circumstances such as to 

deprive the other of his normal opportunities for protection 

is under a similar duty to the other. 
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Restatement (Second) of Torts § 314A, p. 118; see also Shea v. City of 

Spokane, 17 Wn. App. 236, 242 (1977). In Shea, the Court found that 

jailors have a duty toward prisoners because a prisoner is "deprived of his 

liberty, as well as his ability to care for himself." Id. (citing Restatement 

(Second) of Torts§ 314A, p. 118.). The duty in Shea was found to be 

absolute and non-delegable because the plaintiffs ability to care for 

himself was absolutely abridged by his incarceration. Id. at 241-42. The 

duty of care includes a duty to protect against intentional misconduct of 

third parties, including assaults. See generally Winston v. State, 130 Wn. 

App. 61 (2005). 

Washington law recognizes a special relationship between parole 

officers and their parolees. Joyce v. State, Dept. of Corrections, 155 

Wn.2d 306, 318 (2005). That relationship and its corresponding duty is 

created by "the judgment and sentence and the conditions of release ... " 

Id. Those in DOC charge need not be in physical custody to have a special 

relationship with the DOC. Taggart v. State, 118 Wash.2d 195,223 

(1992). While neither Joyce nor Taggart involved a§ 314A(4) duty to 

protect the supervisee, they provide an analysis of the "special" 

relationship between the DOC and its supervisees which is helpful in this 

matter of first impression for the Court. 

Shea stands for the proposition that, because custodial limitations 

on a person's liberty interfere with that person's ability to care for and 
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protect himself, the individual or entity imposing such limitation owes that 

person a duty to replace his lost ability to protect himself. Shea, 17 Wn. 

App. at 242. While the particular fact pattern in Shea involved an 

incarcerated jail inmate, id., nothing in Washington case law or in the 

Restatement language limits the proportional application of that duty to 

other supervisees of DOC who are only partially restricted by the DOC in 

their ability to protect themselves. To the contrary, Shea and the 

Restatement language simply assert that the deprivation of one's ability to 

avail himself of his "normal opportunities for protection" gives rise to a 

duty to provide protection in lieu of the person's own ability to protect 

himself. Adding to this the special relationship recognized between parole 

officers and parolees in Taggart and Joyce, the plain language of the 

Restatement and the case law point to a duty on the part of the DOC to 

protect those subject to community supervision in proportion to the degree 

that their ability to protect themselves is limited by the DOC. 

2. Public policy and logic support a DOC duty of protection 
toward community supervisees. 

"Whether an affirmative duty to act exists depends upon many factors, 

including mixed considerations of logic, common sense, justice, policy, 

and precedent." Rochon v. Saberhagen Holdings, Inc., 2007 WL 2325214, 
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at *1 (Wash. App. Div. 1, 2007) (citingSnyderv. Med Serv. Corp., 145 

Wn.2d 233,243 (2001) (internal quotation omitted)). 

It is established in Washington that the DOC owes duties of care and 

protection to inmates in physical custody. Shea, 17 Wn. App. at 242, 

Winston v. State, 130 Wn. App. at 61. These duties are based on the policy 

that, to the extent a legal custody relationship limits a person's normal 

opportunities to protect himself, the custodial entity or individual must 

provide protection to replace the curtailed normal opportunities to protect. 

Shea, 17 Wn. App. at 242. The policy is intended to restore the person in 

custody to the same level of care and protection he would have but for the 

custodial relationship, by imposing a duty on the entity limiting the 

person's ability to care for himself. This policy requires that the DOC 

have a duty to protect all in its custody, community supervisees as well as 

those in physical custody, unless and until the legislature or the courts 

decree otherwise. 

Further, logic requires that the DOC have a duty to care and protect, 

proportionate to the extent a supervisee is deprived by the DOC of 

opportunities to protect himself. In Shea, the jail was found to bear full 

responsibility for the health and safety of an inmate in physical custody, 

because that inmate's ability to secure care for himself was completely 

extinguished by the conditions of his incarceration. Id. When a person is 
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subject to DOC supervision, the conditions of which limit, but do not 

extinguish, the supervisee's ability to care for and protect himself, it 

stands to reason that the DOC has a duty to care and protect that person to 

the degree the DOC limits the person's ability to protect himself. Such 

duty is not the absolute duty the DOC owes to inmates subject to 24/7 

physical incarceration because their ability to protect themselves is only 

partially restricted by the DOC. Since individuals on community 

supervision have some ability, albeit restricted, to protect themselves, the 

DOC's duty exists to the extent the supervisee is deprived by the DOC of 

opportunities to protect himself. The extent of the duty will vary with the 

extent of limitation on the supervisee's options to protect himself, but the 

duty itself is required by public policy, logic and common sense. 

3. The trial court erroneously created an exception to the § 314A 
duty of protection, disadvantaging individuals on probation or 
supervision. 

Section 314A(4) of the Restatement (Second) of Torts, as adopted in 

Shea, imposes a duty upon persons or entities which take legal custody of 

individuals and limit those individuals' "normal opportunities for 

protection." Restatement (Second) of Torts,§ 314A(4), p. 118; Shea, 17 

Wn. App. at 242. Rather than follow the plain language of the Restatement 

and case law, which point to a DOC duty to all individuals whose ability 

to protect themselves is reduced by the government in the terms of their 
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imprisonment or community supervision, the trial court singled out those 

on community supervision for a lesser degree of safety. Rep. of 

Proceedings of Summ. J. Hr'g., p. 27:7-29:11. The court created a new 

distinction, not found in the Restatement, between normal opportunities 

for protection for individuals not in any sort of custody from normal 

opportunities for individuals under community supervision: 

So the question then becomes are we talking about normal 
opportunities as it applies to the individual who has no 
restrictions on their liberty or are we talking about normal 
opportunities as it applies to somebody who has restriction 
on their liberty as a result of their criminal history. 

Id., p. 27:21-28:1. The court then found that supervisees are entitled 

only to the normal opportunities for protection permitted under the terms 

of their supervision, which are necessarily fewer than those enjoyed by 

individuals not on supervision: 

In this case, normal opportunities the court believes more 
appropriately would be normal opportunities as they pertain 
to somebody who has had some restrictions placed on them 
as a result of a prior criminal history. 

Id., p. 28:4-8. This finding is in direct contradiction to the language and 

meaning of§ 314A, which provides that one whose custody of another 

deprives the other of his normal opportunities for protection (enjoyed by 

everyone) has a duty to protect that person. Restatement (Second) of Torts 

§ 314A, p. 118. The Court of Appeals in Shea found§ 314A to require 
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that the jail completely replace an inmate's ability to care for himself 

when incarcerated. Nowhere in the Restatement or in Washington case 

law is there support for the proposition that supervisees alone have a lesser 

claim on safety. Such logic by extension would potentially overrule Shea 

since prisoners are also subject to restricted conditions of self-protection 

not experienced by individuals not in custody. 

The trial court acknowledged the uncertainty of this position, and 

invited appellate review to clarify it: 

In addition, I don't find any case law that appears to cover 
this circumstance or these circumstances .... And without 
that type of support of case law or better interpretations 
from Appellate Courts under 314A or talking about 314A 
the court does not find that there is a duty in this case .... 
[T]here is the ability of the plaintiff to go appeal this and 
create new case law ... 

Rep. of Proceedings of Summ. J. Hr'g., p. 29:3-11. Because Washington 

appellate courts have described the applicable duty under the Restatement 

as matching the duty owed with the corresponding restriction imposed, 

this case must be reversed so that this trial court's new test based on 

confusion in applying the Restatement to community supervision does not 

confuse subsequent courts in fulfilling the public policies behind the 

Restatement as adopted by several Washington cases. See, e.g., Shea v. 

City of Spokane, 17 Wn. App. 236 (1977); Winston v. State, 130 Wn. App. 

61 (2005); Gregoire v. City of Oak Harbor, 170 Wn.2d 628 (2010) 
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(holding that a jail or's duty is not subject to the defenses of assumption of 

the risk and contributory negligence in situations where the inmate caused 

his own harm). 

VI. CONCLUSION AND PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

Applying the Restatement (Second) of Torts § 314A to the 

Department of Corrections in a community supervision factual scenario 

may be a matter of first impression in Washington, but applying that duty

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