FILED
JUL 20, 2016
Court of Appeals
Division III
State of Washington

NO. 339921

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION III OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

Ahmet Hopovac,

Appellant,

v.

State of Washington Department of Corrections and Kimberley Allen,

Respondents.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

CARL P. WARRING Assistant Attorney General WSBA #27164 1116 W. Riverside, Suite 100 Spokane, WA 99224 (509) 456-3123 OID #91106

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

IV. ARGUMENT

A. Standard of Review

Appellate courts review summary judgment orders *de novo*. *Kim v. Lakeside Adult Family Home*, 2016 WL 2756026, at *5 (Wash. May 12, 2016). In other words, an appellate court will consider "all of the evidence presented to the trial court and 'engages in the same inquiry as the trial court.'" *Id*. (citing *Folsom v. Burger King*, 135 Wn.2d 658, 663, 958 P.2d 301 (1998)). Here the issue presented to the trial court and to

this Court is whether a legal duty exists. *See* Appellant's Opening Brief (Opening Br.) at 4. Generally, the existence of a legal duty is a question of law to be decided by the Court. *McKown v. Simon Prop. Grp., Inc.*, 182 Wn.2d 752, 762-63, 344 P.3d 661 (2015). When the issue of the existence of a legal duty depends upon certain, disputed facts, summary judgment is inappropriate. *Binschus v. State*, 186 Wn. App. 77, 92, 345 P.3d 818 (2015). Here Hopovac does not contend that any disputed material facts prevent the Court from reaching a decision regarding the existence of a legal duty. *See* Opening Br. at 5.

Hopovac's standard of review has the potential to create confusion. For example, Hopovac recognizes in his standard of review that questions of material fact can preclude summary judgment. Opening Br. at 10. He does this after having already conceded that, "The facts of the case are largely irrelevant to this appeal, which centers simply on the existence of a legal duty." Opening Br. at 5. Hopovac also blurs the standard of review by claiming that the jury "decides the scope and application of any duty owed." Opening Br. at 11. This argument lacks relevance, since the issue presented for review is the existence of a legal duty. Opening Br. at 4. But the argument is also inexact. The scope of a duty owed, insofar as it describes the extent of a duty, is a question of law for the Court. See Wuthrich v. King Ctv., 185 Wn.2d 19, 25, 366 P.3d 926 (2016). The scope

of a duty owed is a jury question where the trier of fact must determine if the harmful conduct falls within an existing duty. *See McKown*, 182 Wn.2d at 762-63. In any event, Hopovac's misstatements regarding of the standard of review do not preclude this Court from determining the existence (or non-existence) of a legal duty as a matter of law.

B. The Department Owes No Duty To Protect An Offender From An Assault When The Offender Is Beyond The Physical Custody / Complete Control Of The Department.

For more than 100 years, the duty to keep an offender in health and safety has been applied to cases only where an offender is within the physical custody of a jailor. See Gregoire v. Oak Harbor, 170 Wn.2d 628, 630, 244 P.3d 924 (2010); Kusah v. McCorkle, 100 Wash. 318, 319, 323, 170 P. 1023 (1918); Riggs v. German, 81 Wash. 128, 131-32, 142 P. 479 (1914); Winston v. State, 130 Wn. App. 61, 62, 64, 121 P.3d 1201 (2005); Shea, 17 Wn. App. at 241-42. As explained by the Washington State Supreme Court in Gregoire, "The duty owed 'is a positive duty arising out of the special relationship that results when a custodian has complete control over a prisoner deprived of liberty." 170 Wn.2d at 636 (emphasis added) (citing Shea, 17 Wn. App. at 242). The duty to keep an offender in health and safety is not absolute. In the case of protecting an inmate from assaults by other inmates, the duty is limited:

In order to hold the State liable for injury to one inmate inflicted by another inmate, there must be proof of knowledge on the part of the prison officials that such an injury will be inflicted, or good reason to anticipate such, and then there must be a showing of negligence on the part of these officials in failing to prevent the injury.

See Winston, 130 Wn. App. at 64; see also Garrott v. Vail, 549 Fed. Appx. 669 (9th Cir. 2013).

The special relationship that gives rise to a custodian's duty to protect an incarcerated offender does not exist in this case. When Hopovac was assaulted on May 24, 2011, he was not in the complete control of the Department. In fact, the Department had no special relationship with Hopovac at all on May 24, 2011. See Husted v. State, 187 Wn. App. 579, 348 P.3d 776 (2015), review denied, 184 Wn.2d 1011, 360 P.3d 817 (2015) (holding that the duty to control an offender on community supervision ends when the offender absconds from supervision and a Secretary's Warrant is issued); see also Smith v. Washington State Dep't of Corr., 189 Wn. App. 839, 359 P.3d 867 (2015), review denied, 185 Wn.2d 1004, 366 P.3d 1244 (2016). Hopovac absconded from supervision and a warrant issued for his arrest on May 9, 2011, weeks before the May 24, 2011 assault of which he complains. CP at 47. Thus, Hopovac's claim fails as a matter of law for at least two independent reasons. First, there is no tort duty to protect him because he was not in the Department's

physical custody / complete control while on community supervision. Second, even if a duty to protect an offender outside of the physical custody / complete control of the Department arguably existed, Hopovac had no special relationship with the Department whatsoever. He absconded from community supervision before he was assaulted on May 24, 2011. These circumstances preclude his claim as a matter of law.

Hopovac's rationale for extending Restatement § 314A and Shea outside of the realm of physical custody is ill-founded. For example, Hopovac claims that nothing in the language of § 314A or *Shea* precludes extending the duty beyond cases of physical custody. Opening Br, at 13. Hopovac is wrong; both sources contain language restricting their application to physical custody cases. The plain language of § 314A limits its application: "One who is required by law to take or who voluntarily takes the custody of another " Restatement (Second) of Torts § 314A (1965) (emphasis added). Similarly, the Washington State Supreme Court, while discussing Shea, expressly stated that the duty to protect an offender is premised on "the special relationship that results when a custodian has complete control over a prisoner denied of liberty." Gregoire, 170 Wn.2d at 635 (emphasis added); see also Shea, 17 Wn. App. at 242. Thus, the plain language of § 314A and *Shea* restrict the duty owed to cases where physical custody / complete control is exerted.

Hopovac's public policy argument is also flawed. Hopovac makes sweeping generalizations about policy without grounding those statements in any recognized source of public policy. See Opening Br. at 14. As a general rule, public policy is best determined by reference to legislative enactments. See American Home Assur. Co. v. Cohen, 124 Wn.2d 865, 874, 881 P.2d 1001 (1994). Courts rely on constitutional, statutory or regulatory schemes to determine public policy and are cautious when asked to declare public policy without the benefit of legislative or prior judicial expressions on the same subject. Danny v. Laidlaw Transit Servs., Inc., 165 Wn.2d 200, 207-08, 193 P.3d 128 (2008). So, when Hopovac writes, "This policy requires that the DOC have a duty to protect all in its custody, community supervisees as well as those in physical custody, unless and until the legislature or the courts decree otherwise" (Opening Br. at 14), Hopovac turns the proper analysis of public policy on its head. Rather than citing to legislative enactments that affirmatively support his so-called public policy concerns, he simply argues that the existing duty should be extended until the legislature or courts act to restrict it. This erroneous analysis of public policy does not justify the creation of a duty to protect an offender who is beyond the Department's physical custody / complete control.

Moreover, creating a duty to protect offenders who are beyond the Department's physical custody / complete control is inconsistent with the rationale that supports the current duty owed to incarcerated offenders. The status quo is understandable because a custodian has the ability to timely dictate housing assignments, impose protective custody or use other penological strategies while an offender is under the actual physical control of the custodian. In stark contrast, the Department enjoys a far less realistic chance of exercising any meaningful, immediate control over an offender once physical control is relinquished, as illustrated by the underlying facts of this case. Hopovac's community supervision initially began in January 2011. CP at 53. One day later, he absconded from supervision. CP at 52-53. He was not apprehended until March 10, 2011, at which point, he was incarcerated until April 14, 2011. CP at 51-52. Upon his second release to community supervision on April 14, 2011. Hopovac's community supervision lasted less than three weeks before he again absconded on May 4, 2011, resulting in the issuance of a Secretary's Warrant on May 9, 2011. CP at 48-51. Hopovac then remained at-large until May 30, 2011. But even during the three weeks of community supervision before Hopovac absconded, he disregarded the Department's authority over him. Hopovac's conditions of supervision prohibited him from going to bars, consuming alcohol, using controlled substances or

possessing firearms. CP at 222. Yet, on the night Hopovac witnessed the gun-for-meth exchange, Hopovac was out drinking (see CP at 88), handled the gun that was used in the murder (CP at 157), and smoked crystal meth with the perpetrator of the murder. CP at 88. These undisputed facts illustrate just how impractical it would be to expect the Department to protect an offender from an assault after the offender has left the Department's physical control.

Hopovac's logic and common sense arguments also fail him. Hopovac hypothesizes that because a duty to protect an incarcerated offender exists, some lesser, undefined duty must also exist for community supervision offenders because of unspecified restrictions on the offender's liberty. *See* Opening Br. at 15. To reach this conclusion, Hopovac continues to ignore that it is the complete control exerted by a jailor over an inmate that justifies imposing any duty at all; this complete control does not exist in the community corrections context. *Gregoire*, 170 Wn.2d at 635 (emphasis added); *see also Shea*, 17 Wn. App. at 242. Once physical control is relinquished, the basis for imposing the duty disappears.

Finally, Hopovac makes too much of the trial court's oral ruling. *See* Opening Br. at 15-18. Specifically, Hopovac complains that the trial court too narrowly construed § 314A's meaning of "normal opportunities

for protection." Id. There are several reasons why this argument is without value for this Court. First, this Court is conducting a de novo review on a purely legal issue - meaning this Court reviews the entire record and gives no deference to the findings or conclusions of the trial court. Second, a trial court's oral opinion has no final or binding effect unless it is incorporated into the findings, conclusion and judgment. Pearson v. State, 164 Wn. App. 426, 441, 262 P.3d 837 (2011). Here the trial court reduced its oral ruling to a written order that does not recite the alleged errors in rationale argued by Hopovac. Third, this Court can affirm the trial court on any grounds supported by the record. *Id.* Since neither § 314A nor Shea impose a duty to protect an offender from an assault once the offender has left the physical custody of the Department. the trial court reached the correct conclusion. Fourth, the trial court's decision did not rest solely on whether the term "normal opportunities for protection" is defined by reference to an offender subject to conditions of supervision or to the average citizen. The trial court also opined that the lack of any authority imposing a duty to protect outside of the complete control context was a basis for the ruling. See RP at 28:20-29:2. Finally, the trial court correctly observed that Hopovac still enjoyed basic, normal opportunities for his own protection. RP at 28:12-19. Hopovac could have gone to the police. RP at 28:12-19. Instead, Hopovac elected to

abscond from supervision. CP at 47-48. For these reasons, Hopovac's criticisms of the trial court's oral ruling do not justify an order reversing summary judgment.

V. CONCLUSION

This Court should affirm the Order Granting Defendants' Motion For Summary Judgment Re: Duty. Creating a duty to protect offenders who are no longer within the Department's physical control is contrary to existing case law, the Restatement (Second) of Torts § 314A, and common sense, as discussed above.